
 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA 

 

 

TRACY WILLIAMS 

860 N. Franklin Street 

Pottstown, PA 19464 

 

Plaintiff, 

 

vs. 

 

FRANKLIN LABS, LLC 

1800 Centre Avenue 

Reading, PA 19605 

 

-and- 

 

HARVEST HEALTH & RECREATION, 

INC. 

c/o Registered Agent Solutions, Inc. 

300 W. Clarendon Avenue, Suite 240 

Phoenix, AZ 85013 

 

Defendants. 

 

 

 

 

 

NO. ____________________ 

 

CIVIL ACTION 

 

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

 

 

COMPLAINT 

 

 Plaintiff, Tracy Williams, by and through undersigned counsel, hereby files the following 

Complaint against Defendants: 

INTRODUCTION 

 

1. Plaintiff has initiated this action to redress violations by Defendants of, inter alia, 

the Age Discrimination in Employment Act (“ADEA” - 29 U.S.C. §§ 621 et. seq.), the Americans 

with Disabilities Act (“ADA” - 42 U.S.C. 12101 et seq.), Title VII of the Civil Rights Act and the 
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Pennsylvania Human Relations Act (“PHRA”).1 Plaintiff was unlawfully terminated by 

Defendants and has suffered damages more fully described/sought herein.    

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

 

2. This Court, in accordance with 28 U.S.C. § 1331, has jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s 

claims because this civil action arises under laws of the United States.   

3. This Court may properly maintain personal jurisdiction over each Defendant 

because each Defendant’s contacts with this state and this judicial district are sufficient for the 

exercise of jurisdiction over each Defendant to comply with traditional notions of fair play and 

substantial justice, satisfying the standard set forth by the Supreme Court of the United States in 

International Shoe Co. v. Washington, 326 U.S. 310 (1945) and its progeny. 

4. Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(1) and (b)(2), venue is properly laid in this district 

because all of the acts and/or omissions giving rise to the claims set forth herein occurred in this 

judicial district.  

5. Plaintiff exhausted federal administrative remedies for her claims by first dual-

filing a charge of discrimination with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”) 

and the Pennsylvania Human Relations Commission (“PHRC”) and receiving a right to sue letter 

mailed on or about February 3, 2021.   

6. Plaintiff will seek leave to amend this pleading to incorporate claims under the 

PHRA at the end of the statutory one year waiting period required by Pennsylvania law and pursue 

 
1 Plaintiff’s claims under the PHRA are referenced herein for notice purposes. She is required to wait 1 full year before 

initiating a lawsuit from date of dual-filing with the EEOC.  Plaintiff must however file her lawsuit in advance of same 

because of the date of issuance of her federal right-to-sue-letter.  Plaintiff’s PHRA claims however will virtually mirror 

her federal claims. 
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relief and/or damages under that statute that are not already available under federal law. See 43 

P.S. § 962(c). 

PARTIES 

7. The foregoing paragraphs are incorporated herein in their entirety as if set forth in 

full. 

8. Plaintiff is an adult individual, with an address as set forth in the caption. 

9. Defendant Franklin Labs LLC (“Defendant FL”) is a Pennsylvania limited liability 

corporation with a principal place of business at the above-captioned address. 

10. Defendant FL is believed and therefore averred to have at one point operated at 

least five (“5”) marijuana dispensaries in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. 

11. Defendant Harvest Health & Recreation Inc. (“Defendant HHR”) is believed and 

therefore averred to be a Canadian corporation registered to do business in the State of Arizona.  

12. Defendant HHR has a registered agent for service of process at the above-captioned 

address. 

13. Defendant HHR’s principal office addresses are believed and therefore averred to 

be 2200 HSBC Building, 8825 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, Canada and/or 1155 West Rio 

Salado Parkway Suite 201 Tempe, AZ 85281. 

14. Defendant HHR advertises on its website at http://www.harvesthoc.com that it does 

business and/or sales within the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, but upon information and belief 

may not yet be registered as a foreign corporation doing business in the Commonwealth. 

15. Defendant HHR also advertises as doing business in the States of Arizona, 

California, Florida and Maryland. 
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16. During the course of her employment, Plaintiff was employed by Defendant FL 

who was subsequently acquired by Defendant HHR for approximately $25.5 million dollars. 

17. Defendants publicly announced the purchase on or about March 27, 2020 prior to 

Plaintiff’s unlawful termination. 

18. Upon information and belief, Defendants FL and HHR (“Defendants”) comprise 

one general operation and were a joint employer of Plaintiff during his period of employment. 

19. Upon information and belief, because of their interrelation of operations, common 

ownership or management, centralized control of labor relations, common ownership and/or 

financial controls, and/or other factors, Defendants are sufficiently interrelated and integrated in 

their activities, labor relations, ownership and management that they may be treated as a single 

and/or joint employer for purposes of the instant action. 

20. Alternatively, upon information and belief, Defendant HHR is liable as a successor 

in interest to Defendant FL.2 

21. At all times relevant herein, each Defendant acted by and through its agents, 

servants and employees, each of whom acted at all times relevant herein in the course and scope 

of their employment with and for each Defendant.    

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

22. The foregoing paragraphs are incorporated herein in their entirety as if set forth in 

full. 

23. Plaintiff is 52 years old with a date of birth of June 10, 1968. 

 
2 In the Third Circuit, when a party files a discrimination case “the doctrine of successor liability applies where the 

assets of the defendant-employer are transferred to another entity. An aggrieved employee may enforce a claim 

or judgment against a successor that would have been valid against the predecessor.” Brzozowski v. Corr. 

Physician Servs., 360 F.3d 173, 178 (3d Cir. 2004) (emphasis added) 
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24. Plaintiff is a Black (African-American) female.  

25. Plaintiff became an employee of Defendants effective on or about March 2, 2020 

about a month before Defendants announced that Defendant HHR was acquiring Defendant FL. 

26. At all times, Plaintiff was physically employed for Defendants at 1800 Centre 

Avenue in Reading, Pennsylvania.  

27. Plaintiff worked in an approximate 46,000 square foot marijuana cultivation, 

manufacturing and processing industrial building.  

28. Due to the aforesaid acquisition as referenced above, during her short period of 

employment (approximately 3 months), the workplace was being substantially changed (including 

as to management hierarchy). 

29. Plaintiff was initially hired as a trimmer and later moved to work in packaging.  

30. Management within Defendants included Scott Lee (“Lee”) (a Director of 

Cultivation) and “Tyler” (last name unknown) who oversaw packaging and trimming.  

31. Plaintiff was unlawfully terminated on or about May 20, 2020 shortly before 

completing her 90-day work timeframe. 

32. At time of termination, Plaintiff was informed by both “Tyler” and Lee that they 

would not be moving forward with her as an employee any longer.  

33. The termination was both discriminatory and retaliatory. 

34. Plaintiff’s short tenure with Defendants was primarily during the initial stages of 

the global COVID-19 pandemic.  

35. During her employment, Plaintiff had gotten sick on at least one occasion--even at 

times vomiting in the restroom. 
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36. Plaintiff suffers from severe bouts of Colitis and other gastrointestinal 

complications, both of which are long-term disabilities. 

37. Plaintiff was also one of very few Black employees and upon information and belief 

one of the oldest employees at her location. 

38. Most of the workforce was non-Black and comprised of younger people believed 

to be in their 20’s and 30’s.  

39. Plaintiff was referred to the job by a family member who spoke with management. 

40. Plaintiff believes and therefore avers she obtained the job based upon a strong 

recommendation and referral.  

41. Lee appeared reluctant to hire Black people in general.  

42. In particular, he informed Plaintiff’s distant family member if he hired a Black 

employee, he wanted an assurance Plaintiff would not be “one of those angry black women.”  

43. Throughout Plaintiff’s short tenure, she was definitively treated much more harshly 

and disparately than anyone else in the workplace. By way of example and without limitation: 

a. Plaintiff had been suspended for traveling on a weekend despite no policy even 

being disseminated as to what employees were not permitted to do on their 

personal time;  

b. Because Plaintiff was getting sick at times due to her health problems, she was 

told she had to get tested for COVID-19. Plaintiff explained that there were 

others who coughed, sneezed, looked sick, and those persons were typically not 

required to get tested for COVID-19. Plaintiff expressly clarified to 

management she suffered from disability. These discussions occurred within 

weeks of her termination from employment; 
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c. Lee at times would also tell Plaintiff don’t act “angry,” consistent with his 

discriminatory view of Black women and despite the fact that Plaintiff was 

nothing but pleasant and professional; 

d. Plaintiff was given a disciplinary document during her employment tenture for 

not weighing something properly even though others worked at her weight 

station. Plaintiff did not believe she did anything wrong and others were not 

admonished in the same way.  

e. Management identified some cleaning duties would be required by employees 

later into Plaintiff’s hire. Plaintiff was instructed to clean, mop, and perform 

other cleaning duties more so than others in the workplace. Plaintiff was being 

assigned other employee work areas to clean and being singled out for the bulk 

of the janitorial work. Plaintiff was the one being assigned to clean bathrooms 

and the employee breakroom. Upon information and belief, Defendants made 

these assignments in an attempt get Plaintiff to resign. 

44. The aforementioned examples above are just that—examples of disparate treatment.  

45. Toward the end of Plaintiff’s employment, in the last two (“2”) to three (“3”) weeks,  

Plaintiff mentioned to both Lee and “Tyler” that she felt she was treated unfairly based 

on her race and age.  

46. Plaintiff mentioned the disparate treatment to Lee and “Tyler” on a couple of occasions 

in the aforementioned timeframe.  

47. Lee and “Tyler” effectively ignored the complaints, blew them off and then terminated 

Plaintiff in close proximity to them.  
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48. Plaintiff’s termination was pretextual in that Defendants terminated her because of (a) 

her disclosures of health problems; (b) notice that she would need certain 

accommodations of breaks or restroom at times due to health problems; and (c) her age, 

race and/or her complaints of differential treatment wherein she specifically referenced 

her age and race to Lee and “Tyler”. 

COUNT I 

Violations of the Age Discrimination in Employment Act (“ADEA”) 

([1] Age Discrimination, [2] Retaliation and [3] Hostile Work Environment) 

-Against Both Defendants- 

 

49. The foregoing paragraphs are incorporated herein in their entirety as if set forth in 

full. 

50. Plaintiff believes and avers herein that Defendants terminated her employment 

because of her advanced age and otherwise subjected younger co-workers to more favorable 

treatment. 

51. Defendants also retaliated against Plaintiff for her aforementioned complaints of 

discrimination. 

52. These actions as aforesaid constitute unlawful discrimination, retaliation and a 

hostile work environment under the ADEA. 

53. Plaintiff has suffered damages as set forth more fully herein. 

COUNT II 

Violations of the Americans with Disabilities Act “ADA”_ 

[1] Actual/Perceived/Record of Disability Discrimination; [2] Retaliation; [3] Failure to 

Accommodate; [4] Hostile Work Environment) 

-Against All Defendants- 

 

50. The foregoing paragraphs are incorporated herein in their entirety as if set forth in 

full. 
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51. Plaintiff was terminated because of [1] her actual and/or perceived disabilities; [2] 

her record of impairment; [3] her requested accommodation(s), which also constitutes unlawful 

retaliation. 

52. Defendants also failed to engage in the interactive process and/or otherwise failed 

to accommodate her. 

53. Defendants also retaliated against Plaintiff for engaging in protected activity. 

54. These actions as aforesaid constitute violations of the ADA. 

55. Plaintiff has suffered damages as set forth more fully herein. 

COUNT III 

Violations of 42 U.S.C. § 1981 

([1] Racial Discrimination, [2] Retaliation, [3] Hostile Work Environment) 

-Against All Defendants- 

 

56. The foregoing paragraphs are incorporated herein in their entirety as if set forth in full.   

57. Plaintiff was subjected to disparate treatment by Defendants. 

58. Plaintiff was subjected to a hostile work environment during her entire tenure by 

conduct, actions, and discriminatory statements by Defendants through their highest levels of 

management.  This constitutes a violation of § 1981. 

59. Plaintiff was subjected to unlawful retaliation based on her engagement in protected 

activity. 

60. Plaintiff has suffered damages as set forth more fully herein. 

COUNT IV 

Violations of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act 

([1] Racial Discrimination, [2] Retaliation, [3] Hostile Work Environment) 

 

50. The foregoing paragraphs are incorporated herein in their entirety as if set forth in 

full. 

51. Plaintiff was subjected to disparate treatment by Defendants. 
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52. Plaintiff was subjected to a hostile work environment during her entire tenure by 

conduct, actions, and discriminatory statements by Defendants through their highest levels of 

management.   

53. Plaintiff was subjected to unlawful retaliation for engaging in protected activity. 

54. Plaintiff has suffered damages as set forth more fully herein. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays that this Court enter an Order providing that: 

A. Each Defendant is to promulgate and adhere to a policy prohibiting discrimination 

in the future against any employee(s); 

B. Each Defendant is to compensate Plaintiff, reimburse Plaintiff, and make Plaintiff 

whole for any and all pay and benefits Plaintiff would have received had it not been for each 

Defendant’s illegal actions, including but not limited to back pay, front pay, salary, pay increases, 

bonuses, insurance, benefits, training, promotions, reinstatement and seniority; 

C. Plaintiff is to be awarded punitive damages to the extent permitted by applicable 

law, in an amount believed by the Court or trier of fact to be appropriate to punish Defendant for 

its willful, deliberate, malicious and outrageous conduct and to deter Defendant or other employers 

from engaging in such misconduct in the future; 

D. Plaintiff is to be accorded other equitable and legal relief as the Court deems just, 

proper and appropriate (including but not limited to damages for emotional distress, pain, suffering 

and humiliation); and 

E. Plaintiff is to be awarded the costs and expenses of this action and reasonable 

attorney’s fees as provided by applicable federal and state law. 

F. Plaintiff demands trial by jury on all issues so triable. 
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Respectfully submitted, 

 

KARPF, KARPF & CERUTTI, P.C. 

 

 

            

      Ari R. Karpf, Esq. 

      W. Charles Sipio, Esq. 

3331 Street Rd. 

      Bldg. 2, Ste. 128 

      Bensalem, PA 19020 

 

Date: February 25, 2021 
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